Coastal Carolina University CCU Digital Commons

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

College of Graduate and Continuing Studies

12-10-2022

Microplastic Accumulation in the Digestive Tract of Young-Of-Year Atlantic Sharpnose Sharks (Rhizoprionodon terraenovae) in the Grand Strand, SC

Andrew Curtis Sitlinger Coastal Carolina University

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.coastal.edu/etd

Part of the Marine Biology Commons, Oceanography Commons, and the Terrestrial and Aquatic Ecology Commons

Recommended Citation

Sitlinger, Andrew Curtis, "Microplastic Accumulation in the Digestive Tract of Young-Of-Year Atlantic Sharpnose Sharks (Rhizoprionodon terraenovae) in the Grand Strand, SC" (2022). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 142.

https://digitalcommons.coastal.edu/etd/142

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the College of Graduate and Continuing Studies at CCU Digital Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of CCU Digital Commons. For more information, please contact commons@coastal.edu.

Microplastic Accumulation in the Digestive Tract of Young-Of-Year Atlantic Sharpnose Sharks (*Rhizoprionodon terraenovae*) in the Grand Strand, SC

By

Andrew Sitlinger

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the

Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in

Coastal Marine and Wetland Studies in the

School of the Coastal Environment

Coastal Carolina University

2022

Х

Dr. Dan Abel Major Advisor

Х

Dr. Bryan Franks Committe Member

Х

Dr. Erin Hackett CMWS Graduate Programs Director

Х

Dr. George Boneillo Committee Member

X Committee Member

Х

Dr. Chad Leverette Dean, Gupta College of Science

© 2022 by Andrew Sitlinger (Coastal Carolina University) All rights reserved. No part of this document may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, or otherwise, without prior written permission of Andrew Sitlinger (Coastal Carolina University).

Acknowledgements

Thank you to Dr. Abel for allowing me this incredible opportunity to study the animals that have captured my interest ever since childhood. Thank you for your patience and guidance through an unorthodox graduate school experience, I truly believe we made the best of the circumstances that we were given. Thank you to my committee members, Dr. Boneillo and Dr. Franks, who both offered their own expertise and helped to improve this paper.

A massive thank you to then-undergraduate student Jackie Chao, who dedicated significant time and energy to this project. With her experience, Jackie was then able to perform a similar study of her own design, involving Atlantic Sharpnose sharks and microplastics for her honors thesis.

A final thanks to my friends, family, and fellow graduate students for all of their love and support during this project.

Abstract

This study focused on the presence and accumulation of microplastic fibers in the digestive tract and livers of young-of-year Atlantic Sharpnose Sharks (*Rhizopriondon terraenovae*) from two sampling locations along the Grand Strand of South Carolina. *R. terraenovae* is a small, mesopredatory elasmobranch found abundantly along northwestern Atlantic Ocean coastlines. Thirty specimens of *R. terraenovae* were collected from May through August of 2020. Microplastics were found in all specimens. A total of 672 plastic particles were identified over the course of the study, with an average of 22.4 ± 10.5 (SD) plastics per specimen. The majority of the plastics were classified as fibers (91.4% of total), followed by films (4.3%), fragments (3.7%), pellets (0.6%), and were clear in color (47%). This study did not find evidence to support monthly microplastic accumulation during the four-month sampling period. Moreover, the potential for prenatal transfer in *R. terraenovae* remains uncertain. However, this project was the first to survey microplastic counts over a four-month timeframe in sharks and reports some of the highest reported microplastic levels in sharks.

Table Of Contents

Abstract	iv
List of Tables	vii
List of Figures	viii
Introduction	1
Classification of Microplastics	1
Ingestion of Microplastics	2
Plastics in Elasmobranchs	
Biology of Atlantic Sharpnose Sharks	5
Methods	10
Contamination Measures	11
Dissection and Observation	11
Statistical Analysis	13
COVID-19 Limitations	13
Results	14
Microplastic Shape	
Microplastic Size	
Microplastic Color	15
Precaudal Length	15
Sampling Sites	16
Control	16
Discussion	18
Microplastic Presence	
Comparisons to Related Studies	20
Microplastic Accumulation	22
Comparison of Sampling Locations	23
Prenatal Transfer	27
Significance	27
Limitations and Future Directions	
Conclusion	
Tables	31

Figures	
References	

List of Tables

- **Table 1.** Current literature on elasmobranch species examined for MP presence from2013 to 2022.
- **Table 2.** Contamination averages for foreign plastics encountered during dissection and visual analysis per individual specimen.
- **Table 3.** Post-hoc analysis (Tukey test) comparing microplastic shape present among individuals. (α -level = 0.05).
- **Table 4.** Post-hoc analysis (Tukey test) comparing microplastic size present among individuals. (α -level = 0.05).
- **Table 5.** Post-hoc analysis (Tukey test) comparing microplastic color present among individuals. (α -level = 0.05).
- Table 6. Microplastic abundance in R. terraenovae at Cherry Grove, SC.
- Table 7. Microplastic abundance in R. terraenovae at Garden City, SC.

List of Figures

- Figure 1. The four common microplastic shape classes, where the scale bar represents 1 mm.
- Figure 2. Aerial view of the Grand Strand, SC including sampling sites, Garden City and Cherry Grove (North Myrtle Beach).
- Figure 3. Distribution of shape categories of microplastics in *R. terraenovae* at Cherry Grove, SC over a four-month interval.
- Figure 4. Distribution of shape categories of microplastics in *R. terraenovae* at Garden City, SC over a four-month interval.
- **Figure 5.** Distribution of size categories of microplastics in *R. terraenovae* at Cherry Grove and Garden City, SC over a four-month interval.
- **Figure 6.** Distribution of color categories of microplastics in *R. terraenovae* combined for Cherry Grove and Garden City, SC over the four-month sampling interval.

Introduction

The transmission of plastic waste into the environment is a mounting issue; researchers estimate 10% of all plastics produced, or between 4.8 to 12.7 million tons, enters the ocean each year (Avio *et al.* 2017; Cole *et al.* 2013; Jambeck *et al.* 2015). Plastic contamination is not confined to heavily polluted waters or coastal development; plastics have been reported as distant as Antarctica (Sfriso *et al.* 2020) and as deep as the hadopelagic zone (6,000 to 11,000 m deep) (Courtene-Jones *et al.* 2017; Jamieson *et al.* 2017). Microplastics (MPs), defined as plastic debris less than 5 mm in diameter (Arthur *et al.* 2009; Cole *et al.* 2011), pose a potentially serious and understudied danger to the biota of the ocean. These particles can travel great distances due to their low density and can remain in the ocean for hundreds of years (Klein *et al.* 2017; Barboza *et al.* 2020). Plastic concentrations vary throughout oceanic regions, influenced by anthropogenic and environmental factors, such as wind, waves, and currents (Desforges *et al.* 2014).

Classification of Microplastics

MPs can be classified as primary or secondary based on their source and means of disposal. Primary microplastics are directly deposited as pellets or powders from landbased sources, while secondary microplastics are produced by the degradation of large plastics from interactions with environmental influences (Alimba & Faggio 2019; Cole *et al.* 2011; Thompson 2015). MPs can be categorized into four different shape classes: fibers, films, fragments, and pellets (Figure 1). Fibrous MPs are the prevalent form of

plastic in the marine environment, where in some studies they can account for up to 80-90% of MPs recorded (Suaria *et al.* 2020; Wu *et al.* 2020). Fibers make up 14.5% of global plastic production and are essential components of clothing, furnishings, construction, and automotive products (Suaria *et al.* 2020). MP fragments and films are byproducts of environmental pressures on larger plastics, such as weathering through sand abrasion, friction with hard substrate, wave impact, and occasional animal interactions (Andrady 2017; Oliveira *et al.* 2020; So *et al.* 2022). Other forms of marine plastics, such as pellets, or 'nurdles', are primary building blocks in the manufacturing of large-scale plastic products. These plastics are occasionally released into the environment as a loss of industrial process production or as a result of spills during transportation (Jiang *et al.* 2021; Pozo *et al.* 2020). MPs can be further divided into six major color groupings, white/clear, blue, black, clear, red, and 'other'. Color is an important factor in classifying plastics, as color often plays a significant role in identifying production source and composition.

Ingestion of Microplastics

A growing threat to marine organisms is MP ingestion, where plastic particles are ingested either directly or indirectly (Li *et al.* 2021). Direct plastic ingestion occurs when MP are mistakenly consumed as prey (Sfriso *et al.* 2020) or are passively ingested during respiration (Lusher 2015). Indirect ingestion describes the intake of plastics through the consumption of prey species, where organisms contaminated with previously ingested MPs can be transferred to the gastrointestinal tract of predator species (Athey *et al.* 2020; Miller *et al.* 2020; Nelms *et al.* 2018; Wright 2013). Factors, such as plastic shape, composition, and residence time in the consumed organism can affect which MPs are retained in the predator species versus excreted (Au *et al.* 2017). Once ingested, these plastics can impair movement by disrupting buoyancy and leaving these organisms more vulnerable to predation (Ryan 2016). Further, MP presence in the gastrointestinal tract can negatively affect energy accumulation (Bhuyan 2022) by obstructing feeding apparatuses (Alimba & Faggio, 2019) or inducing a false sensation of satiation (Ryan 2016), and in extreme cases, starvation (Jovanovic 2017). MPs are found in all trophic levels of marine organisms, with plastic presence being reported in plankton (Cole *et al.* 2013), crustaceans (Potocka *et al.* 2018; Villagran *et al.* 2010), fishes (Andreas *et al.* 2021; Parker *et al.* 2020), and cetaceans (Fossi *et al.* 2012).

The direct influence of these foreign particles is not the only concern. Plastics also act as a carrier for harmful chemicals such as persistent organic pollutants (POPs), polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), and dichloro-diphenyl-trichloroethane (DDT) (Bakir *et al.* 2014). As plastics fragment over time, these chemicals are released into the environment or tissue in which they reside (Hirai *et al.* 2011; Neves *et al.* 2015). POPs have been linked to endocrine disruption, leading to hormone imbalance, as well as fertility alterations in teleosts (Abel & Grubbs, 2020; Rochman *et al.* 2014; Smith *et al.* 2018). For instance, in Japanese Medaka (*Oryzias latipes*), chronic exposure to POPs increased egg production as a result of disrupted endocrine function (Hu *et al.* 2020). PCBs are known to cause liver cancer, mutations, and even fatalities in animals (Abel & Grubbs, 2020). DDT is able to accumulate in fatty tissue and create hormonal imbalances in males (Rabitto *et al.* 2011). In addition, translocation of plastic fibers through the stomach lining and digestive tract has been observed (Pullen 2019). These foreign

particles can cause inflammatory damage and harbor the aforementioned chemicals (Li *et al.* 2021). Sussarellu *et al.* (2016) showed that Pacific oysters (*Crassostrea gigas*) experienced a significant reduction in the number of ovulated eggs, as well as the level of sperm motility. Plastics can also negatively affect autotrophic animals, such as phytoplankton, by reducing chlorophyll absorption due to the presence of plastic fragments in their tissue (Laist 1987).

Plastics in Elasmobranchs

MP studies are an emerging field of research, with at least fifteen published studies concerning their presence in sharks from 2013 - 2022, covering a variety of species (Table 1). The methods and subsequent results used to document and quantify MP vastly differ across studies, due to elasmobranch species inhabiting diverse environments and occupying different trophic levels. Avio *et al.* (2015), for example, reported MP presence in 44% of the stomachs of Spiny Dogfish (*Squalus acanthias*) (n = 9), while Parton *et al.* (2020) found MPs in 58% of the stomachs of the same species (n = 12). Even in studies with a similar location, differing methodology can produce notably different results.

Two studies on the Blackmouth Catshark (*Galeus melastomus*) in the Mediterranean Sea highlight this contrast. Valente *et al.* (2019) reported MPs in 78.1% (n = 32) of *G. melastomus* specimens using chemical digestion and filtration of the digestive tract, whereas Alomar & Deudero (2017) reported MPs in 16.8% (n = 125) of *G. melastomus* specimens through dissection and stomach analysis. In comparing elasmobranch species of different trophic levels, current research has suggested that

higher trophic species are more suspectable to MP influences due to the trophic transfer of MP-associated persistent pollutants (Maes *et al.* 2020; Whitacre 2008).

While the methodology and extraction rates vary, the majority of studies confirm that clear and blue fibrous plastics are the most prevalent types of MPs in elasmobranchs (Alomar & Deudero, 2017; Bellas *et al.* 2016; Kooi & Koelmans, 2019; Martí *et al.* 2020; Neves *et al.* 2015). These studies have shown that MP ingestion occurs in several elasmobranch species and are associated with increased levels of PBTs and PCBs (Fossi *et al.* 2014; Yong *et al.* 2021). The long-term effects of MPs in most elasmobranch species are largely unknown (Parton *et al.* 2020), though long-lived species and filter feeders are believed to be at greatest risk (Corsolini *et al.* 2014; Fossi *et al.* 2014; Germanov *et al.* 2019).

Biology of Atlantic Sharpnose Sharks

The Atlantic Sharpnose Shark (*Rhizoprionodon terraenovae*) is a small requiem shark species that inhabits the east coast of the United States, the Caribbean Ocean, and the Gulf of Mexico (Carlson & Brusher, 1999; Castro 1993; Ehnert-Russo & Gelsleichter 2019). *R. terraenovae* can reach a TL of 110 cm and live up to a maximum of ten years (Köhlmann 1987). At birth, *R. terraenovae* pups are born at a total length (TL) of 29-37 cm and grow at rate of 15-23 cm per year until marturity (Compagno 1984). Female *R. terraenovae* reach sexual maturity around two to three years old at a TL of 85-90 cm (Parsons 1985). *R. terraenovae* are viviparous and reproduce yearly, with litter sizes ranging from four to seven pups (Carlson & Baremore, 2003).

R. terraenovae females typically reach their reproductive peak in April, with a gestation period ranging from 11-12 months (Hoffmayer *et al.* 2013; Drymon *et al.* 2020). As winter approaches later in the year, the pregnant females will travel to deeper waters in large sexually segregated schools. As spring nears, *R. terraenovae* then return to the shallow coastal waters to give birth (Carlson & Baremore, 2003). Shortly after parturition, the females will continue to mate, and the process begins once again. Unlike other coastal shark species, juvenile *R. terraenovae* display multiple forms of residency, where instead of conventional long-term residence in a nursery or protected area, *R. terraenovae* utilize wide ranging movements across a combination of coastal bays and estuarine habitat.

Young-of-year *R. terraenovae* feed primarily on arthropods, mollusks, and small teleosts (Bethea *et al.* 2006; Gelsleichter *et al.* 1999; Hoffmayer & Parsons, 2003), before switching to larger teleost prey later in maturity. *R. terraenovae* are opportunistic hunters and have a greater range of prey items than other mesopredatory sharks of similar size and habitat (Hoffmayer & Parsons, 2008). *R. terraenovae* also display an ontogenetic shift in trophic position creating difficulties in describing exact prey and habitat preferences (Altobelli &. Szedlmayer, 2020; Carlson *et al.* 2008; Delorenzo *et al.* 2014; Drymon *et al.* 2011; Morgan *et al.* 2020).

R. terraenovae was chosen as the focus of this study due to its regional ubiquity, trophic position within the coastal ecosystem (Drymon *et al.* 2011), and previous MP-focused research in this species (Pullen 2019). *R. terraenovae*'s role as a mesopredator illustrates a link between top predators and lower trophic levels, and thus serves as a model for understanding MP in a coastal marine community. Lastly, *R. terraenovae* is

listed by the IUCN as a species of least concern so collecting specimens would not unduly impact the population nor require special collection permits. In sampling an abundant and healthy stock, insights may be gained for threatened species, such as juvenile Sandbar Sharks (*Carcharhinus. plumbeus*) (Collatos *et al.* 2020; Cortez *et al.* 1999). By focusing on young-of-year *R. terraenovae*, knowledge can be gained into the potential effects of MP presence on growth rate and size.

The presence of MPs in *R. terraenovae* was first described by Pullen (2019), who investigated MP presence in adult *R. terraenovae*. In Pullen's study, 16 mature male *R. terraenovae* were caught during May and July 2018 from experimental longlines in Winyah Bay, SC. Winyah Bay is the fourth largest estuary on the east coast of the United States in terms of discharge rate, with an estuarine drainage area of 24,633 km² (Gray *et al.* 2018; Kim & Voulgaris, 2008). Winyah Bay is believed to be a nursery ground of several shark species, including *R. terraenovae* (Abel *et al.* 2007; Bethea *et al.* 2006, Bruce 2014; Callatos *et al.* 2020; Pullen 2019).

Pullen dissected her specimens and identified MP presence, where they were then categorized by shape, size, and color. MPs were found in all specimens (n = 16), with a mean of 57.93 ± 11.71 (SD) MPs per individual, then the highest reported average in the literature in sharks. A total of 927 plastic particles were identified across all specimens with the frequency ranging from 34 to 75 MPs per individual. The prevalent shape of recorded MPs were fibers (93.6%), then fragments (5.7%), films (0.5%), and pellets (0.1%). The prevalent size class of MPs was < 1 mm (54.8%), followed by 1 to 2 mm (25.1%), then 2 to 3 mm (11.7%), 3 to 4 mm (4.2%), 4 to 5 mm (2.2%), and > 5 mm (2.0%). The prevalent MP color recorded was blue (41%), then clear (22%), black (15%),

and gray (9%). Further, Pullen assessed the stomach lining for MP presence, where three particles were identified as a result of translocation. Lastly, Pullen found no correlation between MP counts and body length per individual, hepasomatic indices (HIS), or condition factor (CF).

The objective of the current study was to expand on the research of Pullen (2019) by identifying and quantifying plastic presence in the digestive tract and livers of youngof-year *R. terraenovae* in coastal South Carolina. Initially, Winyah Bay was the desired sampling location for this study, however access to research boats were restricted during the onset of COVID-19, so two piers along coastal South Carolina were selected as an alternative solution. Additionally, shark abundance is typically high at piers, where activities such as fish cleaning and discard influence shark behavior and provide a more reliable catch, as opposed to fishing efforts in Winyah Bay (Isner 2021; Martin *et al.* 2019).

R. terraenovae specimens were collected from two pier locations, in order to better sample the local population and see if there was a difference in plastic concentration per specimen by location. After the *R. terraenovae* specimens were captured, the digestive tract and liver were removed, chemically digested, and examined, as previous studies have documented plastic bioaccumulation in both organs (Barboza *et al.* 2018; Collard *et al.* 2017). The identified plastics were then categorized by shape, size, and color. A sub-objective of this study was to investigate prenatal transfer of plastics by comparing MP presence at an early developmental stage to previously recorded MP counts in adult *R. terraenovae*. Establishing the occurrence of MP transfer

in *R. terraenovae* in utero should allow more research into understanding developmental effects due to MP presence.

Methods

Sampling

A total of thirty young-of-year *R. terraenovae* were caught at monthly intervals at two locations from May to August 2020. Cherry Grove (33.83° N, 78.63° W) and Garden City (33.58° N, 79.00° W) are beach communities 43.6 km apart, that were selected for their location at opposing ends of the Grand Strand (Figure 2), and presence of nearby piers that encourage teleost and elasmobranch activity (Martin *et al.* 2019).

Sampling was performed via hook-and-line from the beach, using locally caught shrimp as bait. Sampling began an hour before predicted high tide, a period where fish activity is heightened and more susceptible to ambush from predatory fish (Able *et al.* 2013). Once captured, the *R. terraenovae* specimens were examined for the presence of an umbilical scar, indicating their status as a neonatal/young-of-year shark (Duncan & Holland 2006; Olin *et al.* 2011; Parsons 1985). If a visible ubilical scar was present, the *R. terraenovae* was then encased in aluminum foil to prevent plastic contamination through the gills. The wrapped specimens were placed on ice until deceased and subsequently frozen at -23° C until initial assessment and dissection. Animal collection and processing procedures performed in the field were conducted under the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) research permit #2015.05.

Contamination Measures

In order to minimize contamination from non-project related MPs, several safeguards were used in the lab area. All activities related to dissecting, filtration, and observation were performed while wearing 100% cotton lab coats and masks, and latex gloves. All glassware and filtration apparatus were cleansed with alcohol and dried in the vacuum hood for each specimen. Initially, samples were processed in a lab equipped with a fume hood, where much of the examination and filtration was performed.

As the project progressed, concerns arose about airborne MPs and a separate analysis area was enclosed by 100% cotton sheets. This allowed the researcher to view and identify MPs in a controlled setting without the heightened risk of contamination from foot traffic. In both the dissection lab (Lab 1) and MP analysis lab (Lab 2), a control petri dish was set aside five separate times to establish a baseline of atmospheric MP contamination in both locations. The quality control samples were then averaged to establish the number of foreign MPs in order to redact them from the final counts. To limit water MP contamination, the Milli-Q® Reference Water Purification System was used to filter all water used in filtration and decanting. Additionally, five control tests of the amount of water used per individual assessment was used in order to establish an aquatic MP contaminant baseline.

Dissection and Observation

The sharks were then processed in the same manner as Pullen (2019), in accordance with the methods provided in Avio *et al.* (2015). Out of the MP examination methods described by Avio *et al.* (2015), protocol six was the preferred method for this

study due to the high extraction rate (90%) of plastic particles and reduced cost of chemicals. Before dissection, each *R. terraenovae* specimen was thawed to room temperature, sexed, weighed, and measured by fork length (FL), precaudal length (PCL), and total length (TL). An incision was made along the length of the *R. terraenovae* specimen to expose the abdominal cavity. The digestive tract and liver were then removed from the *R. terraenovae* specimen and the organs were examined for any deformities. The organs were then added to a 250 ml NaCl hypersaline solution (1.2 g/cm³) in an aluminum tin, while stirring and decanting for ten minutes. Once completed, the stirring and decanting step was repeated with a second 250 ml NaCL solution, to further break down the organic matter.

The remaining solution used to break down the organic matter was then vacuumfiltered using six 47 mm gridded cellulose-nitrate filters with a 0.45 μ m pore size (GF/B, Whatman, USA). The remaining organic matter was transferred to borosilicate petri dishes with a 15% H₂O₂ solution, before being dried in an oven for eight hours (50 °C). Upon completion, the six spent gridded cellulose-nitrate filters and petri dishes containing dried organic matter were examined for MPs under a binocular dissecting microscope (40x), while noting particle size shape, and color. When a particle came into question regarding composition, the hot needle test was used to differentiate between organic matter and plastic. FIJI Image J software was used to digitally measure and compare the MPs through photographs taken of the petri dishes.

Statistical Analysis

Using R-studio, one way ANOVA tests were performed to determined differences to test for significant differences within the five different color groupings, within the four different shapes, and among the four different size classes. When *P*-values were significant, a Tukey post-hoc test was applied to determine which groups differed significantly. In comparing the distribution of MPs between sites (shape categories, color, and class sizes), two-way ANOVA tests were performed to examine interactions between the factors. To assess accumulation, linear regression was used to assess if there were any trends related to PCL and MP abundance over the four-month sampling period.

COVID-19 Limitations

The original design for this study was to catch neonate Atlantic Sharpnose Sharks via longline in Winyah Bay beginning in March, in order to potentially observe prenatal transfer of MPs. Unfortunately, due to the COVID-19 pandemic, this was not possible. Access to equipment to perform longline sampling, student help, YSI meter, university labs, freezer space, and beach access was restricted, as well as an institutional moratorium on boat use.

Additionally, equipment necessary to measure water samples at each sampling site was unavailable, so MP concentrations were used from previous research in nearby Winyah Bay. MP particles were found in all samples taken from the surface microlayer of Winyah Bay, with an average concentration of 30.8 ± 12.1 particles/L across the bay (Gray *et al.* 2018).

Results

MPs were recorded in all specimens (n = 30), with the frequency ranging from 4 to 51 MPs per individual. During the entire four-month sampling, six males and nine female sharks were caught at Cherry Grove, and ten males and five females at Garden City. Of the 30 *R. terraenovae* collected, 53.3% were male (n = 16). A total of 672 plastics particles (corrected for contamination) were identified, with an average of 22.4 ± 10.5 (SD) particles per shark specimen.

Microplastic Shape

The predominant shape of MPs identified were fibers (91.4%), followed by films (4.3%), fragments (3.7%), and pellets (0.6%), with fibers being the dominant shape for all individuals (Figures 3 & 4). There were significant differences in MP shape (ANOVA; $R^2 = 0.892$; df = 3, 116; F = 113.87; P < 0.00001), as well as differences between the two subgroups, one composed of fragments, films, and pellets, and the other composed of fibers (Tukey post-hoc test; Table 3) There was no significant difference in the distribution of MP shapes between the two locations (Two-way ANOVA; P = 0.217; F_A = 1.494; η^2 = 0.02).

Microplastic Size

MPs ranged in length from 0.01 to 4.36 mm, with an mean of 0.47 ± 0.43 mm (SD). The dominant size class among the identified plastics was the less than 0.5 mm

class (66.1%), followed by 0.5 to 0.99 mm (23.3%), 1 to 1.5 mm (7.6%), and greater than 1.5 mm (3%) (Figure 5). There were significant differences between MP size classes with subgroups of less than 0.5 mm, subgroup of 0.5 to 0.99 mm, and a subgroup of 1 to 1.5 mm and greater than 1.5 mm (Tukey post-hoc test; Table 4). There was no significant difference in the distribution of MP sizes between the two locations (Two-way ANOVA; P = 0.134; $F_A = 0.92$; $\eta^2 = 0.03$).

Microplastic Color

The primary color of identified plastics was white/translucent (47.0%), followed by black (24.9%), blue (20.1%), and red (7.3%). The remaining uncategorized colors (0.7%) made up the rest of the plastics (Figure 6). There were significant differences in abundance of colored MPs (ANOVA; R2 = 0.755; df = 4, 174; F = 35.62; P < 0.00001), as well as differences between color groups (Table 5) . There were significant differences between the subgroup of MP colors of black and blue, and subgroup of red and other, and subgroup of clear MPs. There was no significant difference in the distribution of MP colors between the two locations (Two-way ANOVA; P = 0.352; F_A= 1.05; $\eta^2 = 0.01$).

Precaudal Length

The mean PCL in sampled *R. terraenovae* was 25.1 ± 3.0 (SD) centimeters. There was a weak direct relationship between PCL and MP length ($R^2 = .025$; F = 0.72; P = .405) and a weak inverse relationship occurred between PCL and MP abundance ($R^2 = .001$; F = 0.029; P = .866) Finally, there was a weak direct relationship between PCL and MP size ($R^2 = .025$; F = 0.72; P = .405).

Sampling Sites

Garden City (28.1 ± 8.8 (SD) particles) had significantly more MPs per specimen than Cherry Grove (16.7 ± 9.2 (SD) particles) (ANOVA; $R^2 = 0.798$; df = 29,195; F = 11.96; P < 0.01). (Tables 6 & 7) (Figures 3 & 4). Additionally, no significant relationships were recorded for either Cherry Grove or Garden City between mean MP monthly differences across the four month sampling interval (Linear regression: Garden City (P = 0.4881) and Cherry Grove (P = 0.1473). There were also no significant differences between the precaudal lengths in Cherry Grove and Garden City specimens (P = 0.437). As mentioned in the previous sections, there were no significant differences in the MP distribution between Cherry Grove and Garden City for MP shape, size, or color.

Control

Analysis of the control samples recorded 14 contaminant plastics per specimen examined, with the majority of foreign MPs classified as fibers (97.8%). Plastics were corrected for color and shape class, with clear fibers as the dominant MP identified, with an average of 10.1 MP per specimen examined, followed by blue fibers (1.9), black fibers (0.8), red fibers (0.8), and other miscellaneous colors and shapes (0.4). Controls in Labs 1 and 2 yielded airborne contaminant averages equaling 3.2 and 2 MP per specimen examined, respectively. Samples taken from the Milli-Q water filtration system averaged 8.8 MP per specimen examined, with clear fibers (80%) as the prevalent MP identified. For each of the MP counts in each specimen, ten clear fibers were redacted, as were two blue fibers, one black fiber, and one red fiber. Regardless of data corrections, the same significant differences existed in color and shape. Due to COVID-19 protocols, masks

were always required in all lab areas. Disposable face masks similar to those we used, were found to be a major source of plastic shedding and likely a source of contamination in this study (Chen *et al.* 2021).

Discussion

This study is the first to determine monthly MP counts in sharks, and possibly marine organisms as a group, outside of a controlled laboratory environment. The results from this study demonstrate that MP counts in young-of-year *R. terraenovae* specimen are comparable to those found in adult *R. terraenovae* (Pullen 2019). Although there was not sufficient evidence to demonstrate plastic accumulation across a four-month interval, the high counts of MP corroborate the ubiquity of plastics in the coastal ecosystem. Major findings include the quantification and categorization of MPs by shape, length, and color. This study also provides a baseline for future research on plastic occurrence in the digestive tract of *R. terraenovae*, and may suggest prenatal transfer of plastics in utero.

Microplastic Presence

MPs were ubiquitous in *R. terraenovae*. MPs were found in all 30 individuals, with an average abundance of 22.4 ± 10.5 (SD) per specimen. This is consistent with Pullen (2019), who reported MPs in all specimens examined (n = 16). However, Pullen (2019) recorded more MPs per adult *R. terraenovae* (57.93 ± 11.7) than in the young-of-year *R. terraenovae* specimens in the current study. This could be attributed to the age and size of the individuals, where the average PCL of adult specimens examined was 71.1 ± 5.4 cm compared to 25.7 ± 3.0 cm in the young-of-year specimens. Although, when standardizing the results of the two studies between MP presence and PCL, Pullen (2019) (0.81 MP per PCL cm) and the current study (0.87 MP per PCL cm) recorded

similar MP to body length ratios. Parton *et al.* (2020) examined MP presence in four demersal shark species: *S. canicula*, *M. asterias*, *S. acanthias*, and *S. stellaris* where MP presence occurred in only 67% of specimens (n = 46) at a density of 0.74 particles per individual, emphasizing the high abundance of MPs in this current study.

An example of MPs in juvenile elasmobranchs was investigated by Bernardini *et al.* (2018), who recorded plastics in 34.9% of juvenile Blue Sharks (*Prionace glauca*). While both species vary greatly in size, habitat, and prey preference, this remains the only published study to examine MPs in a juvenile elasmobranch species. The difference in plastic abundance in the sampled *P. glauca* (Bernardini *et al.* 2018) compared to abundance in *R. terraenovae* in the present study (100%) could be attributed to the extraction methodology and MP shape parameters used in each study. In Bernardini *et al.* (2018), fibers were excluded in the analysis, whereas the dominant MP shape recorded in the current study were fibers (91.3%). Additionally, in the results provided by Bernardini *et al.* (2018), only the visual identification of *P. glauca* stomach contents were performed as opposed to chemical digestion of the digestive tract of *R. terraenovae* in the current study.

Prey frequency and foraging preference differ between juvenile and adult *R*. *terraenovae*. As *R. terraenovae* mature, prey variety decreases, implying dietary refinement with age (Bethea *et al.* 2007, Harrington *et al.* 2016; Plumlee & Wells 2016). Whereas juvenile *R. terraenovae* target mollusks, crabs and small teleosts, mature sharks shift towards a mostly piscivorous diet. The dietary shift could potentially affect the number of MPs encountered, with crustaceans and mollusks having previously been reported with higher numbers of MPs than teleost species (Danopoulos *et al.* 2020; Smith

et al. 2018; Waddell et al. 2020).

The high MP abundance reported by this study may be largely attributed to the inclusion of MP fibers, that the samples were captured in a highly commercialized region, as well as the inclusion of the liver in the analysis of the *R. terraenovae* specimens. The liver was included in this study, as MP occurrence in hepasomatic tissue is hypothesized to be the result of MP translocation from the intestinal barrier, therefore plastics found in the liver may contribute to a more comprehensive count of MPs across the digestive tract (Collard *et al.* 2018).

Due to time constraints, MPs from the liver and digestive tract were not recorded separately and instead the MP abundance was derived from the entirety of the combined organic matter and the solution used to break the organs down, thereby it is unknown what percentage of MPs were attributed to each respective organ.

Comparisons to Related Studies

MP fibers were the dominant plastic type collected from *R. terraenovae*. As *R. terraenovae* are highly migratory, it unknown whether the MPs identified in this study originated from local sources or from more distant locations. Fibers are likely derived from fishing gear, rope, various land-based sources such as packaging and plastic bags, as well as ingested plastics in prey items (Alomar & Deudero, 2017; Bernardini *et al.* 2018; Huang *et al.* 2020; Isaac & Kandasubramanian 2021; Martí *et al.* 2020). Another major source of fibers is sewage effluent from washing machines and textile manufacturers, where polyester fabrics shed particles that are then deposited into the environment (Browne *et al.* 2011). Clear fibers are also created by the photo-oxidation of colored

fibers in the surface layer of the ocean, where the MP ink absorbs the UV light, and the effected plastic loses color (Espinosa *et al.* 2016; Isaac & Kandasubramanian 2021).

The high percentage of fibrous plastics is consistent with a related study of MPs in Winyah Bay, SC, where 90% of MP samples from surface water were identified as fibers (Ladewig, 2018). In that study, however, blue was the dominant MP color (32%), which is in agreement with the Pullen (2019), who reported high blue MP occurrence (41% of MPs identified) in specimens of *R. terraenovae* in Winyah Bay. Both studies examined estuarine environments, where MP color may vary due to increased fishing activity and maritime equipment, whereas the results of the current study (47% white/translucent) are closely aligned with the dominant clear MPs reported across the global ocean surface (Alomar & Deudero, 2017; Bernardini *et al.* 2018; Huang *et al.* 2020; Martí *et al.* 2020). Estuarine environments have been reported to contain fishes with higher levels of plastic ingestion as opposed to coastal regions (Harris 2020; Savoca *et al.* 2021). Furthermore, increased MP counts could be attributed to the low wave energy of Winyah Bay concentrating the MP's distribution in the water column (Ladewig 2018).

The dominant size class of identified MPs in *R. terraenovae* was less than 0.5 mm (66.1%), with a mean of 0.47 ± 0.43 mm (SD). This is in agreement with Pullen's (2019) study, where most MPs were in the smallest class size, less than 1 mm (55%). Previous research has highlighted the significance of MP size in the marine environment, as Lehtiniemi *et al.* (2018) suggest that MP size, rather than shape, has a greater influence on ingestion rates. Lehtiniemi *et al.* (2018) investigated MP ingestion in fishes and mysid shrimp and postulates that even in high MP concentration regions, the ingestion of an

environmentally relevant shape of MP is inconsequential, rather, the size of the MP corresponds to which MPs are ingested by marine organisms.

Microplastic Accumulation

The lack of significant plastic buildup over the four-month sampling period in the digestive tract and liver of *R. terraenovae* suggests that there was no additional accumulation of MPs. The presence of MPs in the digestive tract and liver of *R. terraenovae* are presumably the result of the ingestion of MPs in the water column and contaminated prey items in the Grand Strand region, not specific to either site.

Currently, there are no studies that extend beyond enumerating MP accumulation in elasmobranch species, although, such studies have been conducted in other marine organisms. In comparison to similarly sized cetaceans, sharks may be less vulnerable to the potential effects of MPs due to the lesser amount of adipose tissue in elasmobranchs compared to cetaceans and are therefore less likely to bioaccumulate MPs and associated toxins in their body fat (Fossi *et al.* 2014). Another potential mechanism of MP rejection is intestinal eversion, a mechanism used by several elasmobranch species to rinse the stomach of mucous and indigestible material (Christie 2012). In studies concerning teleost species, Huang *et al.* (2019) described a positive relationship between fish body length and MP abundance across 30 fish species (n = 120), indicating that MP accumulation is likely occurring. According to the results of the study, carnivorous fishes showed higher MP abundance as opposed to omnivorous species, indicating that plastics similar in appearance to prey species may be a pathway to greater MP intake (Huang *et al.* 2019). While several studies have reported a positive relationship between body

length and MPs in fish species (Boerger *et al.* 2010; Ferreria *et al.* 2019; Santos *et al.* 2016; Ugwu & Gómez, 2021; Wright 2013; Xiong *et al.* 2019), habitat type and health are more reliable correlates of MP abundance than diet (Li *et al.* 2021; Parks *et al.* 2020; Valente *et al.* 2019).

While the rate of plastic ingestion in elasmobranch species is understudied, it seems probable that a variable plastic load exists in *R. terraenovae*, where plastics are ubiquitous in both the water column and prey items but are not retained in the digestive tract. Based on the low variation between means over the four-month sampling period, it is unlikely that MPs are accumulating in the individuals in this study. Additionally, there is no evidence of MP abundance increasing with body length in *R. terraenovae*, suggesting that most MPs have a short residence time within the digestive tract and are not retained. The high MP counts reported in Pullen (2019) and this current study can be attributed to the ubiquity of MPs in the environment, which are ingested during respiration or through prey species and then excreted.

Comparison of Sampling Locations

There was a significant difference in MP abundance between specimens collected in Cherry Grove and Garden City. Specimens captured in Garden City (28.1 ± 8.8) had greater abundance per specimen as opposed to Cherry Grove (16.7 ± 9.2) . Because this study did not measure MP from the water samples, we can only speculate on the causes of these differences. Cherry Grove and Garden City are part of a developed coastal region known as the Grand Strand, which is home to major tourist destination, Myrtle Beach, which was visited by 12.8 million tourists in 2020 (Shifflet 2021). Cherry Grove, located

at the northern end of Grand Strand, is a neighborhood within the city of North Myrtle Beach (17,000 residents), while on the opposing end, Garden City has a population of 10,000 residents. During the summer months, both communities see a surge in tourism and resulting coastal pollution from fishing and recreational activities. While Cherry Grove and Garden City are subjected to similar populations and fishing pressures, Cherry Grove is adjacent to an undeveloped barrier island, Waites Island, a region that is nearly absent of land-based pollution.

Site differences in coastal MP abundance have been suggested to be linked to high-density populations in several aquatic environments (Desforges et al. 2014; Yonkos et al. 2014). However, recent work has indicated that population density may not be the best predictor for coastal or nearshore MP concentrations. Factors such as land development, regional ecology, and geographic features were more strongly correlated with MP presence (Schuyler et al. 2021). For example, Gray et al. (2018), reported greater MP concentrations in Winyah Bay, a small town (< 10,000 residents) in a rural area, versus Charleston Harbor, a heavily industrialized and population dense region (> 138,000 residents). Between inshore (within 9 miles of land) and nearshore (adjacent to the shoreline) locations, the greatest densities of MPs, are consistently reported in nearshore coastal regions as the environment is in close proximity to a combination of land-based MP outfalls, such as coastal cities, rivers, and runoff zones (Tudor & Williams 2019). If inshore rather than nearshore sampling was utilized in this study, it is possible that *R. terraenovae* MP concentrations may have differed compared to the concentrations recorded in Pullen (2019) and the current study, due to lack of consistent MP sources away from land.

In studies concerning MP sampling location and elasmobranch species, Alomar and Deudero (2017) reported MP presence in the Blackmouth Catshark (*Galeus melastomus*) which were sampled from two locations with similar habitat type characteristics and anthropogenic effect. The project found no significant differences in MP concentration in *G. melastomas* between the two locations, further highlighting the ubiquity of MPs and a proposed lack of MP concentration trend based upon location. Further, MP concentrations are difficult to ascertain across different oceanic regions, as MPs are vulnerable to vertical mixing through wave, wind, and tide effects (Hidalgo-Ruz *et al.* 2012; Isobe *et al.* 2017; Yu *et al.* 2019). Regardless of the cause of differing MP concentrations, these combined results indicate that MPs can vary regionally, thus it is important that future studies on MP abundance include multiple study sites in order to provide a more robust estimate of the average MP density in the population.

One of the issues in determining the source of ingested-MPs in marine organisms is the assumption that the species of interest, *R. terraenovae*, has a fixed home range and does not move between sampling sites or beyond the range of the study. Accordingly, juvenile *R. terraenovae* in coastal South Carolina are known to frequently travel between estuarine environments and nearshore regions, and do not adhere to a discrete habitat (Carlson *et al.* 2008; Maxwell 2015). While it has been noted that the home range for juvenile *R. terraenovae* is typically small (average = 1.29 km^2), this species also exhibits multiple forms of residency, where time spent in a region varies on the individual for reasons not understood (Carlson *et al.* 2008). Heupel *et al.* (2007) and Carlson *et al.* (2008) suggest that species, such as juvenile *R. terraenovae*, may have an advantage over strongly philopatric species, due to the trade-offs associated with increased foraging

opportunities and quality of prey. As *R. terraenovae* are a highly productive species, the benefits of a set nursey habitat may be limited, whereas constant travel for high-quality prey items may be more advantageous to promote the increased growth rate observed in juveniles of this species.

As such, due to the extent and frequency with which young-of-year *R*. *terraenovae* immigrate across various coastal areas, in order to determine if the identified plastics were ingested in the regions sampled, telemetric data of captured specimen would be necessary to indicate the recent movements before capture. Therefore, the recorded plastic counts of this current study possess greater validity in describing the MP concentration within a species rather than a specific location.

Another potential issue in the study design could be sampling from locations associated heavy fishing activity, as there is a potential bias for sampling *R. terraenovae* specimen that may be influenced by anthropogenic factors associated with pier activity. This phenomen is described by Martin *et al.* (2019), where the behavior of Blacktip Sharks (*Carcharhinus limbatus*) tagged at several piers along the Grand Strand of South Carolina were affected by increased tidal height, barometric pressure, and fishermen present. *C. limbatus* was influenced by the increased availability of food associated with fishing activity (bait, gutting/cleaning, and other fishes attracted to the food) and spent time at the same piers that they were originally tagged at. In the same manner, it is possible that the *R. terraenovae* specimens captured at Cherry Grove and Garden City were frequently visiting the same pier, as opposed to the natural tendency for *R. terraenovae* to constantly immigrate across multiple sites.
Prenatal Transfer

The potential transfer of plastics during fetal development poses serious health ramifications in both animals and humans. Recent studies have discovered MPs in all placental regions in humans and rats (Fournier *et al.* 2020; Ragusa *et al.* 2021). While no published studies to date have explored prenatal MP transfer in elasmobranchs, *R. terraenovae* could be susceptible to this form of transfer. *R. terraenovae* are viviparous, they possess a similar gestation period length to the aforementioned prenatal MP-transmitted subjects, and nurture their unborn pups via placental sac (Castro & Wourms, 1993), which indicates that unborn *R. terraenovae* are subjected to conditions similar to species with published evidence of prenatal transfer. Considering the age (<1 yr. old), size, and plastic presence in the *R. terraenovae* specimens in this study relative to those described in Pullen (2019), the significant plastic presence at an early age could suggest that MP retention begins during prenatal development. Research focusing on MP presence in pregnant *R. terraenovae* would help to further this question and develop a baseline of transfer rates and timeline.

Significance

To what extent MP ingestion influences the overall health of *R. terraenovae* remains unclear, as the current study did not assess negative effects of MP counts. However, due to the size of these plastics, past research has confirmed MPs can infiltrate and reside in tissue and organs, where the organism is further exposed to concentrated MP-associated organic chemicals. Additionally, plastic particles can inflict physical damage to surrounding tissue, and some cases restrict bodily functions, such as digestion

27

and respiration. Further, the risk of constant exposure to organic chemicals may inflict negative developmental effects, immune deficiencies, hormonal disruption, and increased rate of cell mutation and death. Regarding the species of interest, *R. terraenovae* is an important species in the marine ecosystem, where in their role as a mesopredator, they both regulate prey species too small for larger predators and provide an important food source to apex predators. Additionally, *R. terraenovae* are heavily utilized by fishermen as bait, as well as being consumed directly, thereby identifying a direct pathway for exposure to MPs and potentially harmful chemicals in humans and other predator organisms. As past research has described the deleterious effects of organic chemicals linked to MPs, it can be assumed that the MPs described in this study have a similar capacity to adversely affect the health of an organism over time.

Limitations and Future Directions

The intent of this study was to create a baseline examination of MP abundance and accumulation in young-of-year *R. terraenovae*. Nonetheless, due to experimental constraints during COVID-19 and the scope of MPs examined (0.1 - 5.0 mm), a large number of plastic particles, such as nanoplastics $(0.001-0.1 \mu\text{m})$, were excluded from the analysis. Previous research has shown that the majority of plastic particles are smaller than 0.5 mm in surface water samples (Medina *et al.* 2021), meaning that many MP studies are not describing the total plastic population. Moreover, studies such as De Sales-Ribeiro *et al.* (2020), have addressed the issue of misinterpretation of MP presence and impact in the digestive tract of fish species and its delusive effect on future studies. In their research, De Sales-Ribeiro *et al.* (2020) chronically exposed MPs to a group of

28

Zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) in a controlled lab environment. *D. rerio* did not display histopathological changes in either the digestive tract or liver, contradicting the reported physical effects of MPs in teleosts in the majority of existing literature.

The indeterminate parameters surrounding quality control remains a divisive topic for many plastic-related studies, as contamination safeguards and analysis vary between studies. While foreign plastic introduction is unavoidable in dissection and assessment of species, further precautions must be followed in order to decrease the exposure. Filtering all water sources before introduction, working in airflow restricted spaces, and distinctive clothing color are examples of methodology that past studies have used to improve the yield and quality of the results.

Future research should address the gap of information in quantifying the MP rate of weathering and fragmentation. Currently, identification techniques such as Fouriertransform infrared spectroscopy (FTIR) can be used to describe the extent of weathering, but weathering varies due to polymer type, additive makeup, and environmental influences (GESAMP, 2015). In determining plastic concentrations in the marine environment, future studies should also include inland sources of primary MP production, as spillage and runoff rates in coastal regions will help to describe MP introduction and movement (Schuyler *et al.* 2021). Additionally, further examination of accumulation in elasmobranch species over a larger timeframe will improve the current knowledge of plastic retention and potential health effects.

29

Conclusion

The study of MP consumption and contamination will advance current knowledge of how MPs move through trophic levels and their ontogenetic effects on size, fecundity and health indicators in sharks and other marine animals. The absence of significant MP increase over the course of this study suggests MPs are not accumulating in the digestive tract and livers of young-of-year *R. terraenovae*. While the rate of MPs excreted is unknown, the absence of a trend indicates a variable amount of plastic in the digestive tract that constantly fluctuates due to a combination of feeding, respiration, and expulsion. The high counts of MPs at an early age may indicate potential prenatal transfer of plastic, but more work is necessary to confirm this. Furthermore, future research is necessary to identify health risks and complications posed by MP absorption and accumulation in the marine organisms.

Tables

Table 1. Current literature on elasmobranch species examined for MP presence from2013 to 2022. Sample size (N), plastic occurrence, filtration analysis, and fiberclassification are noted. Adapted from Bernardini *et al.* 2018 and Pullen 2019.

Species	Ν	Plastic	Filtration	Fibers	Author
		Occurrence	Analysis	Included	
Centroscymnus	11	9%	No	Yes	Cartes et al. 2016
coelolepis					
Centrophorus	5	0%	No	Yes	Anastasopoulou <i>et al.</i>
granulosus					2015
Etmopterus	16	6%	No	Yes	Anastasopoulou et al.
spinax					2013
Etmopterus	323	6%	No	Yes	Deudero & Alomar,
spinax					2015
Etmopterus	9	11%	No	Yes	Cartes et al. 2016
spinax					
Etmopterus	34	61.8%	Yes	Yes	Valente et al. 2019
spinax					
Galeus	741	3%	No	Yes	Anastasopoulou <i>et al.</i> 2013
melastomus					

Galeus	125	16%	No	Yes	Alomar & Deudero,
melastomus					2017
Galeus	125	16%	No	Yes	Cartes et al. 2016
melastomus					
Galeus	32	78.1%	Yes	Yes	Valente et al. 2019
melastomus					
Lamna nasus	13	100%	Yes	Yes	Maes et al. 2020
Mustelus asterias	12	66.6%	Yes	Yes	Parton et al. 2020
Prionace glacua	95	25%	Yes	Yes	Bernardini et al. 2018
Rhizoprionodon	6	33%	No	No	Miranda <i>et al</i> . 2016
lalandii					
Rhizoprionodon	16	100%	Yes	Yes	Pullen, 2019
terraenovae					
Rhizoprionodon	30	100%	Yes	Yes	Present Study
terraenovae					
Scyliorhinus	1	0%	No	Yes	Anastasopoulou et al.
canicula					2013
Scyliorhinus	72	15.3%	Yes	Yes	Bellas et al. 2016
canicula					
Scyliorhinus	12	75%	Yes	Yes	Parton et al. 2020
canicula					
Scyliorhinus	30	66.7%	Yes	Yes	Valente et al. 2019
canicula					

Scyliorhinus	20	5%	No	No	Smith, 2018
canicula					
Scyliorhinus	10	70%	Yes	Yes	Parton et al. 2020
stellaris					
Squalus acanthias	16	6%	Yes	No	Avio <i>et al</i> . 2015
Squalus acanthias	323	6%	No	Yes	Anastasopoulou et al.
					2013
Squalus acanthias	12	58%	Yes	Yes	Parton et al. 2020
Squalus blainville	9	11%	No	Yes	Anastasopoulou et al.
					2013
Squalus blainville	17	12%	Yes	Yes	Neves et al. 2015

Table 2. Contamination averages for foreign plastics encountered during dissection andvisual analysis per individual specimen. Plastics recorded in both the Milli-Q waterfiltration system and airborne contaminants were combined to determine the averages.Additionally, only fibers were included, as all the other combined shape classes made up2.2% of all contaminate plastics recorded. Each average was redacted from the totalcount of plastics per shark specimen, for a total of 14 plastics removed per individual.

	Clear	Blue	Black	Red	Other	Total
Average						
Contaminant						
Microplastics	10.1	1.9	0.8	0.8	0.4	14

Table 3. Post-hoc analysis (Tukey test) comparing microplastic shape present among individuals. (α -level = 0.05). Fibers were significantly different than the subgroup of films, fragments, and pellets.

Shape	Ν	Mean (SD)	Frequency	Treatment
Fiber	614	20.47 (10.05)	30	а
Film	29	0.97 (1.10)	17	b
Fragment	25	0.83 (1.12)	14	b
Pellet	4	0.13 (0.35)	4	b

Table 4. Post-hoc analysis (Tukey test) comparing microplastic size present among individuals. (α -level = 0.05). The size class, less than 0.5 mm, was significantly difference than the class, 0.5 – 0.99 mm, and the subgroup of 1.1 – 1.5 mm and greater than 1.5 mm.

Size Class (mm)	Ν	Mean (SD)	Frequency	Treatment
0.5<	444	14.80 (7.76)	30	а
0.5-0.99	157	5.23 (4.35)	30	b
1-1.5	51	1.70 (1.15)	27	с
>1.5	20	0.67 (0.88)	14	с

Table 5. Post-hoc analysis (Tukey test) comparing microplastic color present among individuals. (α -level = 0.05). The color classification, clear, was significantly different than the subgroup of blue and black, as well as the subgroup of red and other colors.

Color	Ν	Mean (SD)	Frequency	Treatment
Clear	316	10.53 (6.96)	30	а
Black	167	5.57 (2.39)	29	b
Blue	135	4.50 (2.74)	27	b
Red	49	1.63 (1.13)	26	с
Other	5	0.17 (0.38)	5	c

Table 6. Microplastic abundance in *R. terraenovae* at Cherry Grove, SC.

ID	Month	Sex	Precaudal Length	Number of MPs	Mean MP Length (mm)
			(cm)	(corrected for	(SD)
				contamination)	(~2)
CG1	May	F	21.5	4	0.33 (0.36)
CG2	May	F	23.6	8	0.48 (0.41)
CG3	May	F	23.1	27	0.46 (0.41)
CG4	May	М	24.9	22	1.00 (0.45)
CG5	May	F	23.6	14	0.40 (0.11)
CG6	June	Μ	23.1	22	0.57 (0.33)
CG7	June	F	22.8	4	0.43 (0.35)
CG8	June	Μ	24.1	11	0.42 (0.31)
CG9	July	Μ	22.7	22	0.42 (0.27)
CG10	July	Μ	26.2	32	0.53 (0.39)
CG11	July	Μ	28.7	10	0.38 (0.35)
CG12	August	Μ	29.8	6	0.49 (0.34)
CG13	August	F	27.3	21	0.46 (0.58)
CG14	August	F	26.1	28	0.47 (0.45)
CG15	August	F	31.1	20	0.53 (0.52)
Total				251	0.49

Table 7. Micr	oplastic abundance	e in R. terraenovae	at Garden City, SC.
---------------	--------------------	---------------------	---------------------

ID	Month	Sex	Precaudal Length (cm)	Number of MPs (corrected for contamination)	Mean MP Length (mm) (SD)
GC1	May	М	24.2	38	0.45 (0.34)
GC2	May	М	23.8	27	0.51 (0.35)
GC3	May	F	23.9	51	0.49 (0.39)
GC4	May	Μ	24.5	36	0.35 (0.24)
GC5	May	Μ	22.7	24	0.44 (0.39)
GC6	June	F	22.9	25	0.32 (0.35)
GC7	June	F	22.6	20	0.47 (0.33)
GC8	June	Μ	25.7	26	0.39 (0.43)
GC9	July	Μ	30.6	14	0.41 (0.38)
GC10	July	М	25.0	28	0.46 (0.42)
GC11	July	F	26.4	32	0.40 (0.35)
GC12	August	F	28.6	26	0.31 (0.20)
GC13	August	F	32.4	25	0.47 (0.55)
GC14	August	F	30.4	20	0.62 (0.74)
GC15	August	F	29.0	29	0.71 (0.76)
Total				421	0.45

Figures



Figure 1. The four common microplastic shape classes. Scale bar represents 1 mm.



USGS. (n.d.). Satellite Image of Coastal South Carolina. EarthExplorer. Retrieved June 9, 2022, from https://earthexplorer.usgs.gov/.

Figure 2. Aerial view of the Grand Strand, SC including sampling sites, Garden City and

Cherry Grove (North Myrtle Beach).



Figure 3. Distribution of shape categories of microplastics in *R. terraenovae* at Cherry Grove, SC over a four-month interval. Specimens were caught in May (S1-S5), June (S6-S8), July (S9-S11), and August (S12-S15).



Figure 4. Distribution of shape categories of microplastics in *R. terraenovae* at Garden City, SC over a four-month interval. Specimens were caught in May (S1-S5), June (S6-S8), July (S9-S11), and August (S12-S15).



Figure 5. Distribution of size categories of microplastics in *R. terraenovae* at Cherry Grove and Garden City, SC over a four-month interval.



Figure 6. Distribution of color categories of microplastics in *R. terraenovae* combined for Cherry Grove and Garden City, SC over the four-month sampling interval.

References

- Able, K. W., Grothues, T. M., & Kemp, I. M. (2013). Fine-scale distribution of pelagic fishes relative to a large urban pier. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 476, 185–198. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps10151
- Abel, D. C., Young, R. F., Garwood, J. A., Travaline, M. J., & Yednock, B. K. (2007).
 Survey of the shark fauna in two South Carolina estuaries and the impact of salinity structure. In *American Fisheries Society Symposium* (Vol. 50, p. 109).
 American Fisheries Society.
- Abel, D. C., & Grubbs, D. R. (2020). Shark biology and conservation: Essentials for educators, students, and enthusiasts. Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Alimba, C. G., & Faggio, C. (2019). Microplastics in the marine environment: Current trends in environmental pollution and mechanisms of toxicological profile.
 Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology, 68, 61–74.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.etap.2019.03.001
- Alomar, C., & Deudero, S. (2017). Evidence of microplastic ingestion in the shark *Galeus Melastomus* Rafinesque, 1810 in the continental shelf off the western Mediterranean Sea. *Environmental Pollution*, 223, 223–229. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2017.01.015
- Altobelli, A. N., & Szedlmayer, S. T. (2020). Migration and residency of Sandbar,
 Atlantic Sharpnose, Bull, and Nurse Sharks in the northern Gulf of Mexico. North
 American Journal of Fisheries Management, 40(5), 1324–1343.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/nafm.10501

- Anastasopoulou, A., Mytilineou, C., Smith, C. J., & Papadopoulou, K. N. (2013). Plastic debris ingested by deep-water fish of the Ionian Sea (Eastern Mediterranean). *Deep Sea Research Part I: Oceanographic Research Papers, 74*, 11-13.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsr.2012.12.008
- Andrady, A. L. (2017). The plastic in Microplastics: A Review. Marine Pollutiom Bulletin, 119(1), 12–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2017.01.082
- Andreas, Hadibarata, T., Sathishkumar, P., Prasetia, H., Hikmat, Pusfitasari, E. D.,
 Tasfiyati, A. N., Muzdalifah, D., Waluyo, J., Randy, A., Ramadhaningtyas, D. P.,
 Zuas, O., & Sari, A. A. (2021). Microplastic contamination in the Skipjack Tuna
 (*Euthynnus affinis*) collected from Southern Coast of Java, Indonesia. *Chemosphere*, 276, 130185. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2021.130185
- Arthur, C., Baker, J., & Bamford, H. (2009). International research workshop on the occurrence, effects, and fate of microplastic marine debris. NOAA Technical Memorandum NOS-OR&R-30. Sept (pp. 9-11).
- Athey, S. N., Albotra, S. D., Gordon, C. A., Monteleone, B., Seaton, P., Andrady, A. L., Taylor, A. R., & Brander, S. M. (2020). Trophic transfer of microplastics in an estuarine food chain and the effects of a sorbed legacy pollutant. *Limnology and Oceanography Letters*, 5(1), 154–162. https://doi.org/10.1002/lol2.10130
- Au, S. Y., Lee, C. M., Weinstein, J. E., van den Hurk, P., & Klaine, S. J. (2017). Trophic transfer of microplastics in aquatic ecosystems: Identifying critical research needs. *Integrated Environmental Assessment and Management*, 13(3), 505–509. https://doi.org/10.1002/ieam.1907

- Avio, C. G., Gorbi, S., & Regoli, F. (2015). Experimental development of a new protocol for extraction and characterization of microplastics in fish tissues: First observations in commercial species from Adriatic Sea. *Marine Environmental Research*, 111, 18–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2015.06.014
- Avio, C. G., Gorbi, S., & Regoli, F. (2017). Plastics and microplastics in the oceans: From emerging pollutants to emerged threat. *Marine Environmental Research*, *128*, 2–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2016.05.012
- Bakir, A., Rowland, S. J., & Thompson, R. C. (2014). Transport of persistent organic pollutants by microplastics in estuarine conditions. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science, 140*, 14–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecss.2014.01.004
- Barboza, L. G., Vieira, L. R., Branco, V., Carvalho, C., & Guilhermino, L. (2018).
 Microplastics increase mercury bioconcentration in gills and bioaccumulation in the liver, and cause oxidative stress and damage in *Dicentrarchus labrax* juveniles. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-34125-z
- Barboza, L. G., Lopes, C., Oliveira, P., Bessa, F., Otero, V., Henriques, B., Raimundo, J., Caetano, M., Vale, C., & Guilhermino, L. (2020). Microplastics in wild fish from North East Atlantic Ocean and its potential for causing neurotoxic effects, lipid oxidative damage, and human health risks associated with ingestion exposure. *Science of The Total Environment*, *717*, 134625. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.134625
- Bellas, J., Martínez-Armental, J., Martínez-Cámara, A., Besada, V., & Martínez-Gómez,C. (2016). Ingestion of microplastics by demersal fish from the Spanish Atlantic

and Mediterranean coasts. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, *109*(1), 55–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2016.06.026

- Bernardini, I., Garibaldi, F., Canesi, L., Fossi, M. C., & Baini, M. (2018). First data on plastic ingestion by Blue Sharks (*Prionace glauca*) from the Ligurian Sea (northwestern Mediterranean Sea). *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 135, 303–310. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2018.07.022
- Bethea, M. D., Carlson, J. K., Buckel, A. J., & Satterwhite, M. (2006) Ontogenetic and site-related trends in the diet of the Atlantic sharpnose shark (*Rhizoprionodon terraenovae*) from the Northeast Gulf of Mexico. *Bulletin of Marine Science*, 78(2), 287-307.
- Bethea, D. M., Hale, L., Carlson, J. K., Cortés, E., Manire, C. A., & Gelsleichter, J. (2007). Geographic and ontogenetic variation in the diet and daily ration of the Bonnethead Shark, *Sphyrna tiburo*, from the eastern Gulf of Mexico. *Marine Biology*, *152*(5), 1009–1020. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-007-0728-7
- Bhuyan, M. S. (2022). Effects of Microplastics on Fish and in Human Health. *Frontiers in Environmental Science*, *10*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fenvs.2022.827289
- Boerger, C. M., Lattin, G. L., Moore, S. L., & Moore, C. J. (2010). Plastic ingestion by planktivorous fishes in the North Pacific Central Gyre. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 60(12), 2275–2278. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2010.08.007
- Browne, M. A., Dissanayake, A., Galloway, T. S., Lowe, D. M., & Thompson, R. C. (2008). Ingested Microscopic Plastic Translocates to the Circulatory System of the Mussel, *Mytilus edulis* (L.). *Environmental Science & Technology*, 42(13), 5026–5031. https://doi.org/10.1021/es800249a.

- Browne, M. A., Crump, P., Niven, S. J., Teuten, E., Tonkin, A., Galloway, T., &
 Thompson, R. (2011). Accumulation of Microplastic on Shorelines Woldwide:
 Sources and Sinks. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 45(21), 9175–9179.
 https://doi.org/10.1021/es201811s
- Bruce, Jessica, "A Survey of Shark Population in Winyah Bay, SC: A Comparison of Data from 2002-2006 and from 2012-2014" (2014). *Honors Theses*. 15. https://digitalcommons.coastal.edu/honors-theses/15
- Carlson, John K. & Brusher, John H. (1999) An Index of Abundance for Coastal Species of Juvenile Sharks from the Northeast Gulf of Mexico. *Marine Fisheries Review*, 61(3), pp. 37-45.
- Carlson, J. K., & Baremore, I. E. (2003). Changes in biological parameters of Atlantic Sharpnose Shark *Rhizoprionodon terraenovae* in the Gulf of Mexico: Evidence for density-dependent growth and maturity? *Marine and Freshwater Research*, 54(3), 227. https://doi.org/10.1071/mf02153
- Carlson, J. K., Heupel, M. R., Bethea, D. M., & Hollensead, L. D. (2008). Coastal Habitat use and residency of Juvenile Atlantic Sharpnose Sharks (*Rhizoprionodon terraenovae*). *Estuaries and Coasts*, 31(5), 931–940. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12237-008-9075-2

Castro, J. I., & Wourms, J. P. (1993). Reproduction, placentation, and embryonic development of the Atlantic Sharpnose Shark, *Rhizoprionodon terraenovae*. *Journal of Morphology*, *218*(3), 257–280. https://doi.org/10.1002/jmor.1052180304

- Chen, X., Chen, X., Liu, Q., Zhao, Q., Xiong, X., & Wu, C. (2021). Used disposable face masks are significant sources of microplastics to environment. *Environmental Pollution*, 285, 117485. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2021.117485
- Christie, B. L. (2012). Intestinal Eversion in the Atlantic Sharpnose Shark,
 Rhizoprionodon terraenovae, a behavior ubiquitous among elasmobranch fishes?
 Gulf of Mexico Science, 30(1). https://doi.org/10.18785/goms.3001.08
- Cole, M., Lindeque, P., Halsband, C., & Galloway, T. S. (2011). Microplastics as contaminants in the marine environment: A Review. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 62(12), 2588–2597. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2011.09.025
- Cole, M., Lindeque, P., Fileman, E., Halsband, C., Goodhead, R., Moger, J., & Galloway,
 T. S. (2013). Microplastic ingestion by Zooplankton. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 47(12), 6646–6655. https://doi.org/10.1021/es400663f
- Collard, F., Gilbert, B., Compère, P., Eppe, G., Das, K., Jauniaux, T., & Parmentier, E.
 (2017). Microplastics in livers of European Anchovies (*Engraulis encrasicolus*,
 L.). *Environmental Pollution*, 229, 1000–1005.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2017.07.089
- Collatos, C., Abel, D. C., & Martin, K. L. (2020). Seasonal occurrence, relative abundance, and migratory movements of juvenile Sandbar Sharks, *Carcharhinus plumbeus*, in Winyah Bay, South Carolina. *Environmental Biology of Fishes*, 103(7), 859–873. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10641-020-00989-2
- Compagno, L.J.V., (1984). Sharks of the world. An annotated and illustrated catalogue of shark species known to date. FAO Species Catalogue. Vol. 4. Part 2 -Carcharhiniformes. FAO Fish. Synop. 125(4/2):251-655

- Corsolini, S., Ancora, S., Bianchi, N., Mariotti, G., Leonzio, C., & Christiansen, J. S. (2014). Organotropism of persistent organic pollutants and heavy metals in the Greenland Shark *Somniosus microcephalus* in NE Greenland. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 87(1-2), 381–387. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2014.07.021
- Courtene-Jones, W., Quinn, B., Gary, S. F., Mogg, A. O., & Narayanaswamy, B. E. (2017). Microplastic pollution identified in deep-sea water and ingested by benthic invertebrates in the Rockall Trough, North Atlantic Ocean. *Environmental Pollution*, 231, 271–280. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2017.08.026
- Danopoulos, E., Jenner, L. C., Twiddy, M., & Rotchell, J. M. (2020). Microplastic contamination of seafood intended for human consumption: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, *128*(12), 126002. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp7171
- Delorenzo, D. M., Bethea, D. M., & Carlson, J. K. (2014). An assessment of the diet and trophic level of Atlantic Sharpnose Shark *Rhizoprionodon terraenovae*. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 86(1), 385–391. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfb.12558
- De Sales-Ribeiro, C., Brito-Casillas, Y., Fernandez, A., & Caballero, M. J. (2020). An end to the controversy over the microscopic detection and effects of pristine microplastics in fish organs. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-69062-3

Desforges, J. P. W., Galbraith, M., Dangerfield, N., & Ross, P. S. (2014). Widespread distribution of microplastics in subsurface seawater in the NE Pacific Ocean. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 79(1–2), 94–99.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2013.12.035

- Deudero, S., & Alomar, C. (2015). Mediterranean marine biodiversity under threat:
 Reviewing influence of marine litter on species. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 98(1–2), 58–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2015.07.012
- Drymon, J. M., Powers, S. P., & Carmichael, R. H. (2011). Trophic plasticity in the Atlantic Sharpnose Shark (*Rhizoprionodon terraenovae*) from the North Central Gulf of mexico. *Environmental Biology of Fishes*, 95(1), 21–35. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10641-011-9922-z
- Drymon, J. M., Dedman, S., Froeschke, J. T., Seubert, E. A., Jefferson, A. E., Kroetz, A. M., Mareska, J. F., & Powers, S. P. (2020). Defining Sex-Specific Habitat
 Suitability for a Northern Gulf of Mexico Shark Assemblage. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2020.00035
- Duncan, K. M., & Holland, K. N. (2006). Habitat use, growth rates and dispersal patterns of juvenile Scalloped Hammerhead Sharks *Sphyrna lewini* in a nursery habitat. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 312, 211–221. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps312211

Ehnert-Russo, S. L., & Gelsleichter, J. (2019). Mercury accumulation and effects in the brain of the Atlantic Sharpnose Shark (*Rhizoprionodon terraenovae*). Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, 78(2), 267–283.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s00244-019-00691-0

Espinosa, C., Esteban, M. A., & Cuesta, A. (2016). Microplastics in aquatic environments and their toxicological implications for fish. *Toxicology - New Aspects to This Scientific Conundrum*. https://doi.org/10.5772/64815

- Ferreira, G. V., Barletta, M., Lima, A. R., Morley, S. A., & Costa, M. F. (2019).
 Dynamics of marine debris ingestion by profitable fishes along the estuarine ecocline. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-49992-3
- Fossi, M. C., Panti, C., Guerranti, C., Coppola, D., Giannetti, M., Marsili, L., & Minutoli, R. (2012). Are Baleen Whales exposed to the threat of microplastics? A case study of the Mediterranean Fin Whale (*Balaenoptera physalus*). *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 64(11), 2374–2379. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2012.08.013
- Fossi, M. C., Coppola, D., Baini, M., Giannetti, M., Guerranti, C., Marsili, L., Panti, C., de Sabata, E., & Clò, S. (2014). Large filter feeding marine organisms as indicators of microplastic in the pelagic environment: The case studies of the Mediterranean Basking Shark (*Cetorhinus maximus*) and Fin Whale (*Balaenoptera physalus*). *Marine Environmental Research*, 100, 17–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2014.02.002
- Fournier, S. B., D'Errico, J. N., Adler, D. S., Kollontzi, S., Goedken, M. J., Fabris, L., Yurkow, E. J., & Stapleton, P. A. (2020). Nanopolystyrene translocation and fetal deposition after acute lung exposure during late-stage pregnancy. *Particle and Fibre Toxicology*, 17(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12989-020-00385-9
- Gelsleichter, J., Musick, J. A., & Nichols, S. (1999). Food habits of the Smooth Dogfish, *Mustelus canis*, Dusky Shark, *Carcharhinus obscurus*, Atlantic Sharpnose Shark, *Rhizoprionodon terraenovae*, and the Sand Tiger, *Carcharias taurus*, from the Northwest Atlantic Ocean. *Environmental Biology of Fishes*, 54(2), 205–217. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1007527111292

Germanov, E. S., Marshall, A. D., Hendrawan, I. G., Admiraal, R., Rohner, C. A.,
Argeswara, J., Wulandari, R., Himawan, M. R., & Loneragan, N. R. (2019).
Microplastics on the menu: Plastics pollute Indonesian Manta Ray and Whale
Shark feeding grounds. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 6.
https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2019.00679

GESAMP (2015). Sources, fate and effects of microplastics in the marine environment: a global assessment. (Kershaw, P. J., ed.). (IMO/FAO/UNESCO-IOC/UNIDO/WMO/IAEA/UN/UNEP/UNDP Joint Group of Experts on the Scientific Aspects of Marine Environmental Protection). Rep. Stud. GESAMP No. 90, 96 p.

- Gray, A. D., Wertz, H., Leads, R. R., & Weinstein, J. E. (2018). Microplastic in two
 South Carolina estuaries: Occurrence, distribution, and composition. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 128, 223–233. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2018.01.030
- Harrington, T., Plumlee, J., Drymon, J. M., & Wells, D. (2016). Diets of Atlantic
 Sharpnose Shark (*Rhizoprionodon terraenovae*) and Bonnethead (*Sphyrna tiburo*)
 in the northern Gulf of Mexico. *Gulf and Caribbean Research*, 27(1).
 https://doi.org/10.18785/gcr.2701.05
- Hidalgo-Ruz, V., Gutow, L., Thompson, R. C., & Thiel, M. (2012). Microplastics in the marine environment: A review of the methods used for identification and quantification. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 46(6), 3060–3075. https://doi.org/10.1021/es2031505
- Hirai, H., Takada, H., Ogata, Y., Yamashita, R., Mizukawa, K., Saha, M., Kwan, C., Moore, C., Gray, H., Laursen, D., Zettler, E. R., Farrington, J. W., Reddy, C. M.,

Peacock, E. E., & Ward, M. W. (2011). Organic micropollutants in marine plastics debris from the open ocean and remote and Urban Beaches. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, *62*(8), 1683–1692.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2011.06.004

- Hoffmayer, E. R., & Parsons, G. R. (2003). Food habits of three shark species from the Mississippi Sound in the northern Gulf of Mexico. *Southeastern Naturalist*, 2(2), 271–280. https://doi.org/10.1656/1528-7092(2003)002[0271:fhotss]2.0.co;2
- Hoffmayer, E. R., Driggers, W. B., Jones, L. M., Hendon, J. M., & Sulikowski, J. A.
 (2013). Variability in the Reproductive Biology of the Atlantic Sharpnose Shark in the Gulf of Mexico. *Marine and Coastal Fisheries*, 5(1), 139–151. https://doi.org/10.1080/19425120.2013.783518
- Hu, L., Chernick, M., Lewis, A. M., Ferguson, P. L., & Hinton, D. E. (2020). Chronic microfiber exposure in adult Japanese Medaka (*Oryzias latipes*). *PLOS ONE*, *15*(3). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0229962
- Huang, J. S., Koongolla, J. B., Li, H. X., Lin, L., Pan, Y. F., Liu, S., He, W. H.,
 Maharana, D., & Xu, X. R. (2020). Microplastic accumulation in fish from
 Zhanjiang mangrove wetland, South China. *Science of The Total Environment*,
 708, 134839. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.134839
- Isner, Lynsey E. (2021). "Shark Diversity and Relative Abundance at Myrtle Beach, SC Fishing Piers". *Honors Theses*. 427. https://digitalcommons.coastal.edu/honorstheses/427

- Isobe, A., Uchiyama-Matsumoto, K., Uchida, K., & Tokai, T. (2017). Microplastics in the Southern Ocean. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 114(1), 623–626. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2016.09.037
- Issac, M. N., & Kandasubramanian, B. (2021). Effect of microplastics in water and aquatic systems. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 28(16), 19544– 19562. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-021-13184-2
- Jambeck, J. R., Geyer, R., Wilcox, C., Siegler, T. R., Perryman, M., Andrady, A., Narayan, R., & Law, K. L. (2015). Plastic waste inputs from land into the Ocean. *Science*, 347(6223), 768–771. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1260352
- Jamieson, A. J., Malkocs, T., Piertney, S. B., Fujii, T., & Zhang, Z. (2017).
 Bioaccumulation of persistent organic pollutants in the deepest ocean fauna.
 Nature Ecology & Evolution, 1(3). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-016-0051
- Janardhanam, M., Sivakumar, P., Srinivasan, G., Sivakumar, R., Marcus, P. N.,
 Balasubramaniam, S., Rajamanickam, K., Raman, T., Singaram, G., &
 Harikrishnan, T. (2022). Microplastics in demersal sharks from the Southeast
 Indian coastal region. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 9.
 https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2022.914391
- Jiang, X., Lu, K., Tunnell, J. W., & Liu, Z. (2021). The impacts of weathering on concentration and bioaccessibility of organic pollutants associated with plastic pellets (nurdles) in coastal environments. *Marine Pollution Bulletin, 170*, 112592. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2021.112592

- Jovanović, B. (2017). Ingestion of microplastics by fish and its potential consequences from a physical perspective. *Integrated Environmental Assessment and Management*, *13*(3), 510–515. https://doi.org/10.1002/ieam.1913.
- Kim, Y. H., & Voulgaris, G. (2008). Lateral circulation and suspended sediment transport in a curved estuarine channel: Winyah Bay, SC, USA. *Journal of Geophysical Research*, 113(C9). https://doi.org/10.1029/2007jc004509
- Klein, S., Dimzon, I. K., Eubeler, J., & Knepper, T. P. (2017). Analysis, occurrence, and degradation of microplastics in the aqueous environment. *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry*, 51–67. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-61615-5_3
- Köhlmann, D. (1987). Leonard J. V. Compagno: Sharks of the world. an annotated and illustrated catalogue of shark species known to date. part 2: Carcharhiniformes.–
 pp. X + 251–655, 853 figs. = Fao Fisheries Synopsis No 125, vol. 4, part 2. rome: FAO 1984. ISBN 92-5-101383-7. *Internationale Revue Der Gesamten Hydrobiologie Und Hydrographie*, 72(3), 378–378.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/iroh.19870720329
- Kooi, M., & Koelmans, A. A. (2019). Simplifying Microplastic via Continuous
 Probability Distributions for Size, Shape, and Density. *Environmental Science & Technology Letters*, 6(9), 551–557. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.estlett.9b00379
- Ladewig, S. (2018) "Semi-Quantitative Assessment on Winyah Bay's Microplastic Contamination Levels". *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 30. https://digitalcommons.coastal.edu/etd/30

- Laist, D. W. (1987). Overview of the biological effects of lost and discarded plastic debris in the marine environment. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 18(6), 319–326. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0025-326x(87)80019-x
- Lehtiniemi, M., Hartikainen, S., Näkki, P., Engström-Öst, J., Koistinen, A., & Setälä, O. (2018). Size matters more than shape: Ingestion of primary and secondary microplastics by small predators. *Food Webs*, 17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fooweb.2018.e00097
- Li, B., Liang, W., Liu, Q.-X., Fu, S., Ma, C., Chen, Q., Su, L., Craig, N. J., & Shi, H.
 (2021). Fish ingest microplastics unintentionally. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 55(15), 10471–10479. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.1c01753
- Loefer, J.K., & Sedberry, G. (2003). Life history of the Atlantic sharpnose shark (*Rhizoprionodon terraenovae*) (Richardson, 1836) off the southeastern United States. *Fish. Bulletin.* 101:75-88.
- Lusher, A. (2015). Microplastics in the Marine Environment: Distribution, Interactions and Effects. *Marine Anthropogenic Litter*, 245–307. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-16510-3 10
- Maes, T., van Diemen de Jel, J., Vethaak, A. D., Desender, M., Bendall, V. A., van Velzen, M., & Leslie, H. A. (2020). You are what you eat, microplastics in Porbeagle Sharks from the North East Atlantic: Method development and analysis in spiral valve content and tissue. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, *7*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2020.00273

- Martí, E., Martin, C., Galli, M., Echevarría, F., Duarte, C. M., & Cózar, A. (2020). The colors of the ocean plastics. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 54(11), 6594–6601. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.9b06400
- Martin, KL, Abel, DC, Crane, DP, Hammerschlag, N, and EJ Burge. (2019). Blacktip Shark Carcharhinus limbatus presence at fishing piers in South Carolina: association and environmental drivers. *Journal of Fish Biology*. 94 (3): 469–480. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfb.13917
- Medina Faull, L. E., Zaliznyak, T., & Taylor, G. T. (2021). Assessing diversity, abundance, and mass of microplastics (~ 1–300 μ m) in aquatic systems.
 Limnology and Oceanography: Methods, *19*(6), 369–384.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/lom3.10430
- Miller, M. E., Hamann, M., & Kroon, F. J. (2020). Bioaccumulation and biomagnification of microplastics in marine organisms: A review and metaanalysis of current data. *PLOS ONE*, 15(10). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0240792
- Miranda, D. A., & de Carvalho-Souza, G. F. (2016). Are we eating plastic-ingesting fish?. *Marine pollution bulletin*, 103(1-2), 109–114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2015.12.035
- Morgan, C., Shipley, O. N., & Gelsleichter, J. (2020). Resource-use dynamics of COoccurring Chondrichthyans from the First Coast, North Florida, USA. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 96(3), 570–579. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfb.14238

- Nelms, S. E., Galloway, T. S., Godley, B. J., Jarvis, D. S., & Lindeque, P. K. (2018).
 Investigating microplastic trophic transfer in marine top predators. *Environmental Pollution*, 238, 999–1007. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2018.02.016
- Neves, D., Sobral, P., Ferreira, J. L., & Pereira, T. (2015). Ingestion of microplastics by commercial fish off the Portuguese coast. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 101(1), 119– 126. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2015.11.008
- Olin, J. A., Hussey, N. E., Fritts, M., Heupel, M. R., Simpfendorfer, C. A., Poulakis, G. R., & Fisk, A. T. (2011). Maternal meddling in neonatal sharks: Implications for interpreting stable isotopes in young animals. *Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry*, 25(8), 1008–1016. https://doi.org/10.1002/rcm.4946
- Oliveira, J., Belchior, A., da Silva, V. D., Rotter, A., Petrovski, E., Almeida, P. L.,
 Lourenço, N. D., & Gaudêncio, S. P. (2020). Marine environmental plastic
 pollution: Mitigation by microorganism degradation and recycling valorization. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2020.567126
- Park, T. J., Lee, S. H., Lee, M. S., Lee, J. K., Park, J. H., & Zoh, K. D. (2020). Distributions of microplastics in surface water, fish, and sediment in the vicinity of a sewage treatment plant. *Water*, *12*(12), 3333. https://doi.org/10.3390/w12123333
- Parker, B. W., Beckingham, B. A., Ingram, B. C., Ballenger, J. C., Weinstein, J. E., & Sancho, G. (2020). Microplastic and tire wear particle occurrence in fishes from an urban estuary: Influence of feeding characteristics on exposure risk. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 160, 111539. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2020.111539

- Parsons, G. R. (1985). Growth and age estimation of the Atlantic Sharpnose Shark, *Rhizoprionodon terraenovae*: A comparison of techniques. *Copeia*, 1985(1), 80. https://doi.org/10.2307/1444793
- Parton, K. J., Godley, B. J., Santillo, D., Tausif, M., Omeyer, L. C., & Galloway, T. S. (2020). Investigating the presence of microplastics in demersal sharks of the north-east Atlantic. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-68680-1
- Plumlee, J. D., & Wells, R. J. D. (2016). Feeding ecology of three coastal shark species in the Northwest Gulf of Mexico. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 550, 163–174. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps11723
- Potocka, M., Bayer, R. C., & Potocki, M. (2019). Plastic pollution affects American Lobsters, *Homarus americanus*. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 138, 545–548. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2018.12.017
- Pozo, K., Urbina, W., Gómez, V., Torres, M., Nuñez, D., Přibylová, P., Audy, O., Clarke, B., Arias, A., Tombesi, N., Guida, Y., & Klánová, J. (2020). Persistent organic pollutants sorbed in plastic resin pellet "Nurdles" from coastal areas of central Chile. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, *151*, 110786. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2019.110786
- Pullen, E. (2019) "Microplastics in the Digestive System of the Atlantic Sharpnose Shark (*Rhizoprionodon terraenovae*) in Winyah Bay, SC". *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 110. https://digitalcommons.coastal.edu/etd/110

- Rabitto, I. da, Bastos, W. R., Almeida, R., Anjos, A., de Holanda, I. B., Galvão, R. C., Neto, F. F., de Menezes, M. L., dos Santos, C. A., & de Oliveira Ribeiro, C. A. (2011). Mercury and DDT exposure risk to fish-eating human populations in Amazon. *Environment International*, *37*(1), 56–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2010.07.001
- Ragusa, A., Svelato, A., Santacroce, C., Catalano, P., Notarstefano, V., Carnevali, O.,
 Papa, F., Rongioletti, M. C. A., Baiocco, F., Draghi, S., D'Amore, E., Rinaldo,
 D., Matta, M., & Giorgini, E. (2021). Plasticenta: First evidence of microplastics
 in human placenta. *Environment International*, *146*, 106274.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2020.106274
- Rochman, C. M., Kurobe, T., Flores, I., & Teh, S. J. (2014). Early warning signs of endocrine disruption in adult fish from the ingestion of polyethylene with and without sorbed chemical pollutants from the marine environment. *Science of The Total Environment, 493*, 656-661. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2014.06.051
- Ryan, P. G. (2016). Ingestion of plastics by marine organisms. *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry*, 235–266. https://doi.org/10.1007/698_2016_21
- Santos, R. G., Andrades, R., Fardim, L. M., & Martins, A. S. (2016). Marine debris ingestion and Thayer's law – The importance of plastic color. *Environmental Pollution*, 214, 585–588. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2016.04.024
- Savoca, M. S., Wohlfeil, M. E., Ebeler, S. E., & Nevitt, G. A. (2016). Marine plastic debris emits a keystone infochemical for olfactory foraging seabirds. *Science Advances*, 2(11). https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.1600395

- Schuyler, Q., Wilcox, C., Lawson, T. J., Ranatunga, R. R., Hu, C.-S., Global Plastics Project Partners, & Hardesty, B. D. (2021). Human population density is a poor predictor of debris in the environment. *Frontiers in Environmental Science*, 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fenvs.2021.583454
- Sfriso, A. A., Tomio, Y., Rosso, B., Gambaro, A., Sfriso, A., Corami, F., Rastelli, E., Corinaldesi, C., Mistri, M., & Munari, C. (2020). Microplastic accumulation in benthic invertebrates in Terra Nova Bay (Ross Sea, Antarctica). *Environment International*, 137, 105587. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2020.105587
- Shifflet, D. K. (2021). Myrtle Beach Area Industry research. Myrtle Beach Area CVB Partner Connect. Retrieved July 9, 2022, from https://www.myrtlebeachareacvb.com/industry-research.
- Smith, L. (2018). Plastic ingestion by Scyliorhinus canicula trawl captured in the North Sea. Marine Pollution Bulletin, 130, 6–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2018.03.001
- Smith, M., Love, D. C., Rochman, C. M., & Neff, R. A. (2018). Microplastics in seafood and the implications for human health. *Current Environmental Health Reports*, 5(3), 375–386. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40572-018-0206-z
- So, M. W. K., Vorsatz, L. D., Cannicci, S., & Not, C. (2022). Fate of plastic in the environment: From macro to nano by macrofauna. *Environmental Pollution*, 300, 118920. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2022.118920
- Stevenson, R. D., & Woods, W. A., Jr (2006). Condition indices for conservation: new uses for evolving tools. *Integrative and comparative biology*, 46(6), 1169–1190. https://doi.org/10.1093/icb/icl052

- Suaria, G., Achtypi, A., Perold, V., Lee, J. R., Pierucci, A., Bornman, T. G., Aliani, S., & Ryan, P. G. (2020). Microfibers in Oceanic Surface Waters: A global characterization. *Science Advances*, 6(23). https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aay8493
- Thompson, R. C. (2015). Microplastics in the marine environment: Sources, consequences and solutions. *Marine Anthropogenic Litter*, 185–200. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-16510-3_7
- Tudor, D. T., & Williams, A. T. (2019). Marine debris-onshore, offshore, and seafloor litter. *Encyclopedia of Earth Sciences Series*, 1125–1129. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-93806-6_207
- Ugwu, K., Herrera, A., & Gómez, M. (2021). Microplastics in marine biota: A review. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, *169*, 112540. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2021.112540

Valente, T., Sbrana, A., Scacco, U., Jacomini, C., Bianchi, J., Palazzo, L., de Lucia, G.
A., Silvestri, C., & Matiddi, M. (2019). Exploring microplastic ingestion by three deep-water elasmobranch species: A case study from the Tyrrhenian Sea. *Environmental Pollution*, 253, 342–350.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2019.07.001

Villagran, D. M., Truchet, D. M., Buzzi, N. S., Forero Lopez, A. D., & Fernández
Severini, M. D. (2020). A baseline study of microplastics in the Burrowing Crab (*Neohelice granulata*) from a temperate southwestern Atlantic Estuary. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 150, 110686. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2019.110686

- Waddell, E. N., Lascelles, N., & Conkle, J. L. (2020). Microplastic contamination in Corpus Christi Bay Blue Crabs, *Callinectes sapidus*. *Limnology and Oceanography Letters*, 5(1), 92–102. https://doi.org/10.1002/lol2.10142
- Whitacre, D. M. (Ed.). (2008). Reviews of environmental contamination and toxicology (Vol. 202). New York: Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-74816-0
- Wright, S. L., Thompson, R. C., & Galloway, T. S. (2013). The physical impacts of microplastics on marine organisms: A review. *Environmental Pollution*, 178, 483–492. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2013.02.031
- Wu, J., Lai, M., Zhang, Y., Li, J., Zhou, H., Jiang, R., & Zhang, C. (2020). Microplastics in the digestive tracts of commercial fish from the marine ranching in east China sea, China. *Case Studies in Chemical and Environmental Engineering*, 2, 100066. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cscee.2020.100066
- Xiong, X., Tu, Y., Chen, X., Jiang, X., Shi, H., Wu, C., & Elser, J. J. (2019). Ingestion and egestion of polyethylene microplastics by Goldfish (*Carassius auratus*):
 Influence of color and morphological features. *Heliyon*, 5(12).
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2019.e03063
- Yonkos, L. T., Friedel, E. A., Perez-Reyes, A. C., Ghosal, S., & Arthur, C. D. (2014). Microplastics in four estuarine rivers in the Chesapeake Bay, U.S.A. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 48(24), 14195–14202. https://doi.org/10.1021/es5036317
- Yong, M. M. H., Leistenschneider, C., Miranda, J. A., Paler, M. K., Legaspi, C., Germanov, E., Araujo, G., Burkhardt-Holm, P., & Erni-Cassola, G. (2021).
Microplastics in fecal samples of Whale Sharks (*Rhincodon typus*) and from surface water in the Philippines. *Microplastics and Nanoplastics*, 1(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s43591-021-00017-9

Yu, X., Ladewig, S., Bao, S., Toline, C. A., Whitmire, S., & Chow, A. T. (2018).
Occurrence and distribution of microplastics at selected coastal sites along the southeastern United States. *Science of The Total Environment*, *613–614*, 298–305. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.09.100